
 

Ohio Board of Building Standards 
6606 Tussing Road 
Reynoldsburg, OH 43068-9009 An Equal Opportunity Employer and Service Provider 

614-644-2613 
Fax 614 -644-3147 

TTY/TDD 800-750-0750 
com.ohio.gov 

 

 

Board of Building Standards 
 

CODE COMMITTEE MEETING 
AGENDA 

 
 
DATE:   MARCH 21, 2024 
TIME:   1:00 PM 
LOCATION:  TRAINING RM 2, 6606 TUSSING RD, REYNOLDSBURG, OHIO 43068 

   Click here to join the meeting 
 
 
Call to Order 
 
Approval of Minutes 

MIN-1 February 22, 2024 Code Committee Minutes 
  
Petitions 
  
Recommendations of the Residential Construction Advisory Committee 
  
Old Business 

OB-1 City of Union Determination of Conflict 
OB-2 Proposed Code Change - OBC Section 907.5.2.2.3 
OB-3 Use of Glass Fiber Reinforced Polymer (GFRP) in structural concrete 

  
New Business 

NB-1 RCO Chapter 34 (Electrical) update 
  
Adjourn 

1

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_ZTc0MGQ2N2MtYmNlYy00YTU1LWFlNmQtMGRhYmMyNjIxNzgw%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2250f8fcc4-94d8-4f07-84eb-36ed57c7c8a2%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%224d9480f0-235b-4575-9f22-10aa84889ac9%22%7d


File Attachments for Item:

MIN-1 February 22, 2024 Code Committee Minutes

2



 
 
Ohio Board of Building Standards  614-644-2613 
6606 Tussing Rd, P.O. Box 4009  Fax 614-644-3147 
Reynoldsburg, OH 43068-9009  TTY/TDD 800-750-0750 
  www.com.ohio.gov/dico/bbs             
             An Equal Opportunity Employer and Service Provider 

OHIO BOARD OF BUILDING STANDARDS 
CODE COMMITTEE MINUTES 

February 22, 2024 
 
The Code Committee met on February 22, 2024 with the following members present: Mr. Denk, 
Mr. Johnson, Mr. Miller, Mr. Pavlis, Mr. Samuelson, Mr. Stanbery, and Mr. Yankie.  Board 
Chairman Galvin was also present. 
 
The following staff members were present: Regina Hanshaw, Bruce Culver, Robert Johnson, 
Debbie Ohler, and Jay Richards. 
 
Guests present: Joseph Moore, John Applegate, Andy Switzer, Matt Rohan, and John 

Johnson, III 
Guests present via Teams: Charles Huber and BBS member Ms. Cromwell 
 
CALL TO ORDER  

The meeting was called to order by Mr. Denk at 1:07 P.M.  
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

Mr. Miller made the motion to approve the minutes of the Code Committee meeting held on 
December 14, 2023.  Mr. Stanbery seconded the motion.  The motion passed unanimously. 

 
PETITIONS 
 No items for consideration 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE RESIDENTIAL CONSTRUCTION ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

City of Union Determination of Conflict 
 Ms. Hanshaw stated that staff was contacted last year by a builder indicating that the City 

of Union has an ordinance that prohibits the use of concrete masonry units (CMU), and 
instead, requires the use of poured concrete.  Mr. Robert Johnson, the Board’s investigator, 
subsequently contacted the City’s building official, Andrew Switzer, to discuss the purpose 
of the ordinance. The builder then requested that the Board make a determination of 
conflict in accordance with the procedure outlined in Revised Code §3781.01.  The 
Residential Construction Advisory Committee (RCAC) met in November of 2023 and voted 
to make a recommendation to the Board that the City of Union’s ordinance is in conflict with 
the Residential Code of Ohio (RCO) in that it doesn’t allow other materials that the RCO 
allows and that it is not necessary for the health, safety, and welfare of Ohio’s citizens.  
Therefore, it is not recommended that a similar prohibition be added to the RCO.   Ms. 
Hanshaw stated that no action from the Code committee was expected today, but that the 
City asked for time before the committee to present their position. 

 
 Mr. Joseph Moore, Law Director for the City of Union, introduced Mr. John Applegate, City 

Manager, and Andy Switzer, Residential Building Official for the City.  Mr. Moore indicated 
that the City of Union adopted the ordinance in the best health, safety, and welfare interest 
of the citizens of Union.  The city is a Charter City in Montgomery County with a population 
of approximately 7000.  He explained that the city is a plat city and that there are no luxury 
home subdivisions in the city.  As a Charter City, they believe that they can decide to use 

3



 
 
Ohio Board of Building Standards  614-644-2613 
6606 Tussing Rd, P.O. Box 4009  Fax 614-644-3147 
Reynoldsburg, OH 43068-9009  TTY/TDD 800-750-0750 
  www.com.ohio.gov/dico/bbs             
             An Equal Opportunity Employer and Service Provider 

only one of the four acceptable methods in the RCO.  Aesthetics is a legitimate government 
interest.  The city planning commission recommended that a poured foundation is 
preferrable and is in the best interest of the city.  He believes that the City Council can do 
what is in the city’s best interest. 

 
 Mr. Applegate provided the history of why the city’s many ordinances were adopted.  He 

indicated that most of the time, ordinances were adopted in response to citizen complaints.  
For example, they adopted a property maintenance code and presale inspection 
requirements as a direct result of citizen complaints.  Essentially, the city leaders want their 
residential housing stock to stand the test of time.  They are not wanting the RCO changed.  
They simply want to allow the City of Union to choose what is best for their community. 

 
 Mr. Moore mentioned that Dusty Balsbaugh, of Balsbaugh Excavating and Concrete, a 

local concrete expert and contractor that does a lot of work in the City of Union is quoted as 
saying that “poured concrete is a better long-term product.”  Mr. Moore provided copies of 
the following documents and asked that they be entered into the record: Affidavit of Mr. 
Balsbaugh, Ordinance No. 1762, and the City Council minutes dated 12/12/2022 
documenting when the ordinance was adopted. 

 
 Mr. Samuelson asked whether the ordinance applies to only basements or to all 

foundations.   
 

Mr. Applegate answered that it applies to all foundations.  He mentioned that particularly 
with Ryan Homes, they notice deterioration of block due to deicing around the garage and 
the porch.  He mentioned that they get calls and complaints from residents and that they try 
to be committed to the community. 
 
Mr. Denk commented that it seems to be the heavy hand of government, but that it is well-
intended.  He asked whether CMU with bar and grout adequate? 
 
Mr. Switzer answered “apparently not” and indicated that the front porch is the main issue.  
CMU rots, according to Mr. Switzer.  If the porch is replaced, no reinforcement is required 
based on the small size of the porch. 
 
Mr. Applegate confirmed that block is porous.  The joints are weak points.  He also 
emphasized that it is hard to find good block masons these days. 
 
Mr. Pavlis explained that since 2000, they have tried to have a uniform RCO in Ohio.  He is 
concerned that next year you might want only two by sixes.  Builders don’t want different 
codes across the state.  The OHBA fought for one code throughout the state.  He is an 
expert witness and has seen cracked CMUs as well as cracked poured walls. 
 
Mr. Applegate mentioned that Union had its own code prior to the RCO.  It’s a blue-collar 
community and the city council wants to help the residents keep their homes.  They want to 
choose from the methods allowed in the RCO.  They don’t care if a builder doesn’t want to 
build in Union. 
 
Mr. Pavlis shared his belief that the owner should be allowed to build what’s in the code. 

4



 
 
Ohio Board of Building Standards  614-644-2613 
6606 Tussing Rd, P.O. Box 4009  Fax 614-644-3147 
Reynoldsburg, OH 43068-9009  TTY/TDD 800-750-0750 
  www.com.ohio.gov/dico/bbs             
             An Equal Opportunity Employer and Service Provider 

 
Mr. Applegate confirmed that they are not asking the BBS to change the code.  He believes 
that a Charter Community should be allowed to choose what they want in their community.  
He stated that they want to keep their  community strong and safe. 
 
Mr. Switzer mentioned that rake and soffits are also required in Union. This protects the 
walls from rotting. 
 
Mr. Pavlis indicated that he admires Mr. Applegate’s passion, but that he disagrees with his 
position. 
 
Mr. Stanbery questioned the problems that they had with Ryan Homes. 
 
Mr. Applegate answered that we made them believers. 
 
Mr. Johnson asked whether they have any retirement homes or apartments in the city and 
whether they are trying to keep certain people out.  Typically the residents of these type of 
buildings are on a fixed income. 
 
Mr. Applegate indicated that their goal is to have a blend of types of affordable homes.  
People in the city love it because we listen and care. 
 
Mr. Johnson said that concrete will crack, but still be structurally sound.  He shared that his 
personal feelings don’t matter, but that he sees it as overreaching.  He struggles having to 
tell a builder that they have to only build in one way.  That makes costs go up.  Poor people 
can’t live in that city anymore.  Building standards have evolved and we work hard to make 
sure the codes produce good homes. He worries that we are pricing them out.  He can 
understand their intent but he worries that it will cost too much. 
 
Mr. Applegate agreed with Mr. Johnson and indicated that all builders, except Arcon, have 
switched to poured concrete.  They can work all year with concrete.  The builders can’t find 
bricklayers and masons anymore. 
 
Mr. Pavlis suggested to just let it ride out and play itself out.  The market will work itself out.  
He will also be transitioning to poured due to the lack of labor. 
 
Mr. Stanbery suggested adding more property maintenance inspections. 
 
Mr. Pavlis, again, emphasized the need for a uniform code. 
 
Mr. Applegate appreciated the opportunity to present their position. 
 
Ms. Hanshaw asked for clarification of the second sentence in the ordinance which allows 
for case-by-case application.  She mentioned that type of code language is unusual and 
makes it hard for citizens to know what the city is looking for.  
 
Mr. Switzer indicated that was intended to allow tilt-up concrete and to allow block for 
existing construction. 

5



 
 
Ohio Board of Building Standards  614-644-2613 
6606 Tussing Rd, P.O. Box 4009  Fax 614-644-3147 
Reynoldsburg, OH 43068-9009  TTY/TDD 800-750-0750 
  www.com.ohio.gov/dico/bbs             
             An Equal Opportunity Employer and Service Provider 

 
Mr. Applegate mentioned that they respond to their residents.  When bushes grow into 
neighbor’s yards, they require that the bush owner trim their bushes.  It’s a team effort.  The 
city works with the residents and respond to complaints. 
 
Mr. Miller asked for the cost difference between poured vs. block. 
 
Mr. Applegate indicated that the cost is weather dependent, but the difference is 25%. 
 
Mr. Pavlis confirmed that the cost is weather dependent, but that he plans for 40-50% more 
for poured.  There is more labor in setting the forms.  It’s more specialized and many 
contractors are union workers. 
 
Mr. Miller mentioned that ultimately, this will be a home rule argument.  The committee will 
need to discuss this with home rule in mind. 

 
 After a brief break, Mr. Miller discussed the legal concept of home rule with the committee 

members.  He explained that the Ohio constitution Article 18 allows for statutory cities and 
home rule cities. 

 
 Ms. Hanshaw mentioned the language in HB 175 inserted the BBS in the determination of 

conflict.  She mentioned that the Dublin court case was the only case since HB 175 was 
enacted.  She agreed that this is a constitutional issue. 

 
 Ms. Hanshaw mentioned that the RCAC specifically asked the city whether there were any 

unique local conditions that warranted the need for the ordinance.  She believes that 
allowing this type of preference undermines the intent of HB 175. 

 
 No action was taken by the committee. 

 
 

OLD BUSINESS 
 No items for consideration 
  
 
NEW BUSINESS 

Public Comment 
Mr. Matt Rohan, the Midwest Territory Manager for the Cast Iron Soil Pipe Institute (CISPI), 
introduced himself and the organization to the Code Committee and wanted the committee 
to know that he is available to answer any of their questions.  The committee and staff asked 
a few questions about the use, application, and advantages of cast iron pipe vs. PVC pipe. 
 
Proposed Code Change – OBC Section 907.5.2.2.3 
Ms. Hanshaw provided the background that prompted a proposed change to the OBC.  A 
new school in southwest Ohio was recently constructed with a required Emergency Voice 
Alarm Communication System (EVACS).  The school administrators subsequently 
contracted to add an active shooter alarm system that included blue pull stations installed 
next to the red fire alarm pull stations. The active shooter alarm system was funded through 

6



 
 
Ohio Board of Building Standards  614-644-2613 
6606 Tussing Rd, P.O. Box 4009  Fax 614-644-3147 
Reynoldsburg, OH 43068-9009  TTY/TDD 800-750-0750 
  www.com.ohio.gov/dico/bbs             
             An Equal Opportunity Employer and Service Provider 

the Ohio School Facilities Commission and was programmed to take precedence over the 
fire alarm system.  The local fire official wrote a letter in support of the installation, but the 
State Fire Marshal Inspector cited the OFC Section 907.5.2.2.3 which prohibits any other 
system from taking presence over the manual alarm signal.  The school administrator and 
the designer of the EVACS system indicated that the NFPA 72 standard referenced from the 
OBC/OFC provides more design flexibility and that the NFPA standard was used as the 
basis of the fire/security system design.  The building official issued an order that will allow 
the owner/school administrator to appeal the OBC/OFC requirement and request a variance. 
 
Ms. Ohler presented proposed draft language for consideration to be added to the OBC, and 
hopefully the OFC, at a future time to allow more flexibility to building owners trying to 
balance safety and security risks.  The language allows other high priority urgent emergency 
messages to take precedence over a fire alarm message provided that the building is 
sprinklered, the fire alarm system is addressable, and the proposed system priority levels 
are established in a building-specific emergency response plan. 
 
Mr. Pavlis moved to table the item until we get input from the State Fire Marshal.  Mr. Miller 
seconded.  The motion passed unanimously. 

 
Request that the RCAC reconsider Arc-Fault Circuit Interrupter (AFCI) requirements 

 Mr. Pavlis moved for the RCAC to re-review the technical feasibility of the AFCI 
requirements in the Residential Code of Ohio (RCO).  He mentioned that the OHBA is 
getting complaints that dishwashers, microwaves, refrigerators, and vacuum cleaners are 
causing AFCI devices to trip, resulting in multiple call-backs and electricians replacing the 
AFCI devices with normal circuit breakers.  Mr. Pavlis wonders if NFPA is working with the 
appliance industry to ensure that the AFCI devices are properly tested before adding the 
requirement in the National Electrical Code (NEC).  Mr. Stanbery seconded.  The motion 
passed unanimously. 

 
ADJOURN 

Mr. Miller made the motion to adjourn at 3:35 P.M.  Mr. Yankie seconded the motion. The 
motion passed unanimously. 

7



File Attachments for Item:

OB-1 City of Union Determination of Conflict

8



From: Cassie Shellabarger
To: BBS, BBSOfficAsst3
Cc: Tim Shellabarger
Subject: Determination of Conflict
Date: Monday, June 26, 2023 3:13:50 PM
Attachments: Union Local Provisions.pdf

Ohio Revised Code.pdf

To whom it may concern,
 
We believe Section 1312.03 item (e) of the local provisions stating “New buildings are to be
constructed with poured-in-place concrete foundations. Existing buildings may have additions
with foundations constructed using concrete block, CMU, if, and only if, the main building
foundation is also constructed using CMU. Pre-cast poured concrete foundations may be approved
on a case-by-case basis after examination by the Zoning Administrator. Accessory buildings less than
144 sqft in area are exempt from the poured in place concrete requirements” (attached) conflicts
with the RCO section 404.1.2.1 and 404.1.3 (attached).
 
We believe that the local provisions are opinion based and do not follow the RCO.

a contact name: Tim Shellabarger
what local governing authority’s regulations are being represented: Union, Oh
a mailing address: 7824 Alternate State Route 49, Arcanum, Oh 45304
E-mail address if available: timshellabarger@arconbuilders.com
a daytime phone number: 937-692-6330

Appreciated,
 

Cassie Shellabarger 
cassie@arconbuilders.com  
accounts@arconbuilders.com

7824 Alt. St. Rt. 49
Arcanum, OH 45304
P: (937) 692-6330
F: (937) 692-5778
www.arconbuilders.com
 

9

mailto:cassie@arconbuilders.com
mailto:BBS@com.ohio.gov
mailto:timshellabarger@arconbuilders.com
mailto:timshellabarger@arconbuilders.com
mailto:cassie@arconbuilders.com
mailto:accounts@arconbuilders.com
















CAUTION: This is an external email and may not be safe. If the email looks suspicious,
please do not click links or open attachments and forward the email to csc@ohio.gov or click
the Phish Alert Button if available. 

10

mailto:csc@ohio.gov


11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



File Attachments for Item:

OB-2 Proposed Code Change - OBC Section 907.5.2.2.3

34



 

Emergency Communica�on System – Proposed message priority excep�on 

OBC/OFC  907.5.2.2.3 Alternate uses.  The emergency voice/alarm communica�on system shall be 
allowed to be used for other announcements, provided the manual fire alarm use takes precedence over 
any other use. 

Excep�on:  When the building is equipped throughout with an automa�c sprinkler system 
installed in accordance with Sec�on 903.3.1.1 and the fire alarm system provides ini�a�ng 
device iden�fica�on and annuncia�on in accordance with Sec�on 907.6.3, other high priority 
urgent emergency messages rela�ng to the safety and security of the building occupants are 
permited to take precedence over a fire alarm message when consistent with message priority 
levels previously established in a building-specific, emergency response plan developed by the 
building owners, administrators, and first responders. 

 

Note:  This language is only intended for those occupancies that are required to, or opt to have an 
emergency voice/alarm communica�on system (generally Group A with large occupant loads, most 
Group E, special amusement buildings, high rise buildings, and building having atriums).  We should 
consider whether we want to narrow this only to schools.  Progressive building owners may opt to install 
these systems and when they do, they should be provided the flexibility to set priori�es based upon an 
emergency response plan, even if a plan would not normally be required. 

35


	Top
	MIN-1	February 22, 2024 Code Committee Minutes
	Code Committee Minutes 02-22-2024

	OB-1	City of Union Determination of Conflict
	Determination of Conflict
	Union Local Provisions (002)2
	Ohio Revised Code (002)3
	Union presentation docs

	OB-2	Copy of Proposed Code Change - OBC Section 907.5.2.2.3
	Emergency Communication System message priority exception

	OB-3	Use of Glass Fiber Reinforced Polymer (GFRP) in structural concrete
	NB-1	RCO Chapter 34 (Electrical) update
	Bottom



